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Previously thought to be true:
1.  Jane was the daughter of John and Judith (Davis) Goslin who married in Rowan County, 
North Carolina.
2.  Jane was the daughter of John Goslin, son of Ezekiel and Elizabeth Masters Goslin who 
were members of the Moravian Community of North Carolina.
3.  Jane Goslin and Willis Simmons married in Lancaster County, South Carolina.

In the last few years, previously undiscovered resources have been located that have added 
greatly to the scope of material relative to this research thereby bringing previous beliefs in 
question.  It should be noted that when Aunt Edna passed away in 1978, our parents, 
Adrian and Wanda Fortenberry, inherited her entire genealogical collection including all her 
books, documents, and correspondences.

New questions to explore:
1.  Are there any documents that would lead one to believe that John and Judith (Davis) 
Goslin were/were not the parents of Jane?
2.  Can it be proved/disproved that Ezekiel and Elizabeth (Masters) Goslin were the 
grandparents of Jane Goslin Simmons?
3. Are there documents/events that could indicate where and when Willis Simmons and 
Jane Goslin meet and married?

The purpose of this document is to take a look at the currently held opinions and to present a 
“preponderance of evidence” for a more logical and fact supported theory.

Edna Simmons Campbell was our 
grandmother’s (Nellie Mae 
Simmons Fortenberry) sister.  She 
is our great-Aunt Edna. 

What was thought to be true in the past concerning the family structure for Jane Goslin Simmons now 
appears to be unsubstantiated.



Why are we so interested in the story of Willis and Jane?

Willis and Jane (Goslin) Simmons are the ancestors of many descendants whose roots 
trace to Mississippi.  Their family was originally researched and documented by Edna 
Simmons Campbell and Hansford Simmons. 2 Most descendants of Willis and Jane have 
accepted our heritage as presented in their book The Silver Creek Simmons Family.
Based on their work, it has been accepted that the parents of Jane Goslin were John and 
Judith (Davis) Goslin.

A desire to prove or disprove the long held beliefs about Willis and Jane has lead us 
down a long and twisted path.  Our research began by looking for the stories 
surrounding the early lives of Jane and Willis.   Important questions included:  Where 
and when were they born?  How did they meet?  Did Jane have any siblings?  Was there 
evidence of a previously unknown Goslin family who could be Jane’s parents?  These 
questions piqued our curiosity and led to unexpected answers.  With the discovery of 
new information, our perspective very slowly began to change.  This document is a 
result of those changes.

Lineage: us-Adrian Fortenberry-Ferman Esco Fortenberry-Canolia Ann Simmons-James 
Jackson Simmons-Willis and Jane (Goslin) Simmons (3X great grandparents) 

Also:  us-Adrian Fortenberry-Mae Simmons-William Eli Simmons-George Washington 
Simmons-Willis and Jane (Goslin) Simmons (3X great grandparents) 

We are doubly interested in them because our grandparents (Ferman Fortenberry and Mae Simmons) were second cousins!  That gives us 
two family lines back to Willis and Jane.  In the world of genealogy this is called endogamy.



On 12 November 1962 a 
veteran’s maker for 
Willis’s War of 1812 
service was requested. 3

The application was made 
by Hansford L. Simmons, 
co-author of The Silver 
Creek Simmons Family 
with Aunt Edna.

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/58890424/jane-simmons

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/55255278/willis-simmons

If one looks at Jane’s marker, it is obvious that it was not made at the same time that Willis’s was.  
The granite on Jane’s has been highly polished and the lettering is different.  It would have been 
ordered separately as it could not come from the Veteran’s Administration.  What this means is that 
neither gravestone can be considered as a primary source of information as neither was placed at the 
time of death.

Both of these headstone images are from the website Find a Grave. 4  This cemetery is on private 
property and cannot be accessed without permission.  Also, I was told that the location is so difficult 
to locate that the landowner must take you to it.  Sadly, we have never visited this location.

What do we actually know about Willis and Jane’s births?
All knowledge about their births has come from the 1850 and 1860 
census records for Willis and just the 1850 census for Jane.

He and Aunt Edna provided the information for his marker.  It should be noted that Willis Simmons’s current headstone was not placed at 
his grave until after the ordered date that is given as Feb 1, 1963.  (100 years after his death). 



In a letter to her from Aunt Edna, Teresa shares the following: “This is the first 
page of a letter Aunt Edna wrote to me (Teresa) in response to one I had 
written to her.  I did not keep the envelope and Aunt Edna obviously did not 
date the letter, so my best guess as to when this letter was written would be 
about 1976, twenty years after she first published her genealogy.  I had started 
working on my husband’s family tree for my children and immediately ran into 
“brick walls” when questioning descendants.  I wrote to her asking for 
guidance in pursuing a family history others wanted left alone.   Aunt Edna’s 
letter was very encouraging!”

The quote noted below is a very important statement directly from Aunt Edna! 
Because of her statement in 1976 that she had not found definitive proof of a 
link to the parents of Willis Simmons or Jane Goslin, then what she published 
were theories based on information that seemed to fit at the time.  These 
suppositions have become regarded by many as fact.  With the records 
available to us today, it is imperative that we as researchers verify what has 
previously been written and locate any new sources of information.

“The Silver Creek Simmons family Book had most of the direct 
descendants down to 1955 (time I first published the book) and 
since that time there must be thousands of descendants.  But the 
book gives the hard part, doesn’t it. We still haven’t found out data 
back of Willis and Jane (Goslin) Simmons.”



Based on the year Willis was likely to have been born, there were several Simmons men in Georgia who could have been his father. The 
problem was determining which one.  (Note:  We are aware that many researchers have discovered Willis’s father in the Wilkes County, 
Georgia records.  This discussion is added here for people new to this research and for continuity of content.)  

In 1798, a “Deed of Gift” was recorded in Wilkes County, Georgia, by a William Simmons.  He names his children, including a son Willis.  
Below is a close up of the original document from Wilkes County showing the children’s names.  This document provides the connection 
AND the proof that Willis was a child of this William Simmons, as well as the names of most of his brothers and sisters!   This places Willis 
and the rest of his family firmly in Georgia before he married Jane Goslin.

Sons living at the time this deed was written: Willis, Solomon, 
John, Henry and Asa.  Two sons not mentioned (not yet born) 
are William and Sanders W. Simmons. The name “Willis” has 
sometimes been transcribed as “William”, perpetuating many 
errors as the writing is difficult to read since the lettering 
bends into the spine of the book.  Having seen the original 
record, it is without a doubt Willis. 5

The daughters named are Polley, Nancy, Rachel and 
Celinda. Daughter “Celinda”, named here, should read 
Melinda. 

Washington, Georgia, Wilkes County Deed book R-R page 21 (1798 – 1805) 
from original document. Photo by Teresa Fortenberry

Willis’s location before moving to Mississippi



In locating Jane and her family, it is important to establish where both Willis Simmons and Jane Goslin were living before and at the time 
they married.  It should be remembered that during this period, people usually married locally.  Someone living on a farm in middle 
Georgia would have almost no opportunity to meet someone living in another state.  Travel was not taken lightly.  Couples usually met 
by way of family connections or at their local church.  Many believe that John and Judith (Davis) Goslin were Jane’s parents.  John and 
Judith married on 10 March 1780 in Rowan County, North Carolina. 6 The timing of the marriage would fit with the appropriate year for 
Jane’s estimated birth in the mid 1780s and is most likely the reason this John Goslin was accepted as our Jane’s father.

Seen here is the original 1780 Rowan County, North 
Carolina record of when the marriage bond was made 
(not necessarily when the marriage occurred).  See 
endnote 6 for a transcript.  

We do know that Willis and Jane spent their early 
years of marriage in Jones County, Georgia before 
moving to Mississippi.  See the blog article:  
“Simmons Family to Mississippi.” 7 The question that 
comes to mind is “If Jane’s parents married and lived 
in North Carolina, how would Jane have meet Willis?”  
Logistically, it is not likely but must be considered.

A quick look at the early Rowan County, North Carolina records shows that the Davis surname was quite common.  Several of them, like the 
Moravian Goslins, were originally from Maryland.   This could possibly link Jane to the family of Ezekial and Elizabeth (Masters) Goslin.

Jane Goslin HAD to have a family, but who were they and where were they living?  It would be logical that anyone named John Goslin
should be considered.  It was surprising that when looking at the entire state, we actually found more than one John Goslin!  

Jane’s location before moving to Mississippi



Elizabeth and Ezekiel Goslin of Maryland - Previously thought to be Jane’s grandparents

Our first search naturally began with a look at proving or disproving the idea that Jane Goslin was the daughter of John Goslin whose 
family descended from Ezekiel and Elizabeth Goslin.  This family was originally part of a Moravian 8 community in Maryland who later 
moved to a similar community near today’s Winston- Salem, North Carolina.  On a trip to the area to search for proof of Jane’s parents, 
we located the graves of Elizabeth Masters Goslin, daughter Elizabeth Goslin, and son Ezekiel Gosling, obviously named after his father. 9

Both Elizabeth Masters Goslin and daughter, Elizabeth, are buried at the Hope 
Moravian Old (original) God’s Acre cemetery in Forsyth County, North Carolina.

Ezechiel Gosling, son of Elizabeth Masters Goslin, is buried at 
Friedberg Moravian God’s Acre in Davidson County, North Carolina.

All photos: 
Teresa Fortenberry

While at the Moravian Church Archives at Winston-Salem, North Carolina, we were able to locate some information concerning Elizabeth 
Masters Goslin and her family.  In one of their family files entitled “Widow Elizabeth Goslin”, it was noted that Ezekiel and Elizabeth Goslin
were the parents of 10 children.  Six children mentioned in that file included:  Catherine, Elizabeth, John, Ezekiel, Tabina and Mary.  We could 
not locate information about the other four children, but it is clearly noted that there were only two living sons at the time of the move –
Ezekiel and John.  From this file, we learned that Ezekiel Goslin, Senior died in Maryland and his remaining family moved from the Carrols 
Manor community in Maryland to the Moravian settlement at Bethabara, North Carolina in 1772. 10



Could these Moravian Goslins be related to our Jane Goslin?

Below is the beginning and ending of Elizabeth Masters Goslin’s will.   Because she wrote her will 15 February 1802 and it was proved in 
Stokes County, North Carolina during the June term of 1802, she died between February and June, 1802.  Obviously, she did not live long 
after writing the will. Elizabeth left portions of her estate to several friends, including someone who provided assistance to her and her 
daughter, also named Elizabeth.  Additionally, she bestowed 5 pounds to her son-in-law, Daniel Smith; an equal portion to the children of 
her deceased daughter, Mary Young; an equal portion to her daughter, Catherine Smith, wife of Daniel; the son of her deceased daughter, 
Tabinas Eades; and, to her one remaining son John. 11 Elizabeth (the daughter) contracted typhoid fever at the age of 4 and never fully 
recovered, therefore needed assistance for the rest of her life. Her illness was noted in the previously mentioned Moravian papers. 12

Her son, Ezekiel, was not mentioned in the will because he died in 1774.  The will makes no mention of a wife or family for John or of a 
granddaughter named Jane who would have been a teenager in 1802.  Although this will does not seem to indicate a connection to Jane, 
she COULD still be a member of this family.   The search needed to expand to locate any John Goslins in the North Carolina records.



John Goslin #1 - The 1790 census of Jones County, North Carolina 
lists one John Goslin (on right).  This record shows 7 females and 2 
males in the household.  The true family structure on this census 
cannot be ascertained and therefore leaves multiple possibilities.  
The 7 females COULD have been any combination of females (even 
unrelated) as they were all grouped together regardless of age or 
family connection.  What this record DOES show is that a John 
Goslin was the head of a household in Jones County in 1790 with 
one additional male over 16 and seven females. 13

Technically, this could be the John Goslin who married Judith Davis 
in 1780.  Jane could be enumerated among the 7 females.  Maybe 
John and Judith moved from Rowan County to Jones County, North 
Carolina.   
What about the other two John Goslins?

John Goslins living in North Carolina

Column Data:
2 males 16 & over, 
No males under 16
7 females of any age

There are three different John Goslins enumerated in the 1790 North Carolina census.  By researching these men, maybe it would be 
possible to identify one of them as a good candidate for Jane’s father.  



John Goslin #2 and #3 1790 North Carolina Census
On the same census, in the adjacent county of Craven County, we find TWO John Goslins… luckily listed as Senior and Junior.  Like the 
previous John Goslin from Jones County, North Carolina, they were living near the coast.  

It is apparent that John Jr. had recently established his own household but was not yet married as he was enumerated alone.  He is not likely 
to be Jane’s father because she was born before 1790.   When the 1790 census was taken, the senior John Goslin was married and Jane 
would have already been born.  Could she be among the five females in John Goslin, Sr.’s household?  Luckily, the Craven County Court 
Records were able to help determine the answer to that question.

Although it may look like the name is spelled Gaslin, it will become 
evident that their names were definitely Goslin.

Jones
County

Craven
County

Rowan County
John Goslin married
Judith Davis

Moravian Community 
Elizabeth Goslin family

Comparative locations for 
these John Goslins

In 1790, John Goslin, Sr. had a family of 1 male over 16, 3 males under 
16 and 5 females. 14

John Goslin, Jr. is living alone not far from his father and over the age of 
16. 15

North Carolina Counties in 1780 16



In a 1799 Craven County court case pertaining to the death of John Goslin, Sr. is 
a petition entered in court by William Hampton, husband of Sarah Goslin, a 
daughter of John Goslin, Sr.  The petitioner is complaining that the heirs could 
not settle the estate of the deceased, John Goslin, and he would like the courts 
to force a settlement.  John Goslin’s five children involved with the settlement 
and named as heirs are clearly stated as:

John Goslin, Jr. ( who was living alone in the 1790 census)
Mary Goslin, wife of Curtis Merit
Nancy Goslin, wife of William Wood
Sarah Goslin, wife of the petitioner (William Hampton)
Rodah Goslin, still single 17

Jane Goslin would have been a teenager when this document was filed but NO 
Jane is named in the petition as an heir of John, Sr.  The obvious conclusion is 
that our Jane was neither a daughter of  John Goslin, Sr. (since she would have 
been listed as an heir) nor of John Goslin, Jr. as he appears to have had no
family in 1790. 

John Goslin, Sr. – Craven County, North Carolina Estate Settlement



Some sources (including Aunt Edna) state that Willis and Jane married in Lancaster County, South Carolina. 18 Since documents show that 
Willis’s family was definitely living in Georgia, this statement would infer that Jane Goslin was living in South Carolina and he traveled 
there to marry her.  There are absolutely no Goslins in the early records of Lancaster County South Carolina.  We know this because our 
Fortenberry (Falkenberry) family was from Lancaster County and we have spent many years researching within those records.  Also, if one 
accepted that Jane Goslin and her family were from Lancaster County, South Carolina, how would Willis Simmons have met her?  Willis 
Simmons would have had to travel about 250 miles (ONE WAY) to Lancaster County, South Carolina from Georgia.  In 1804, whether by 
boat, carriage or horseback, that was still a VERY long trip!   This particular story is simply wrong.

Lancaster County, South Carolina?

The first census to list a location of birth was the 1850.  
On that census (shown here), Willis and Jane are noted 
as BOTH born in Georgia. 19 We do not know who gave 
the census taker the information.  Because Jane died in 
June of 1851, we cannot look at the 1860 census to check 
for a comparison.  Note about this census record:  
Matilda and the children following Jane’s name on the 
list are the family of Willis and Jane’s son, Willis, who had 
died sometime before this 1850 Mississippi census.  
Based on data collected by Edna Simmons Campbell, 
after Willis died, his wife and children lived for a while 
with Willis and Jane. 20 This census reflects that.

Is there any other way to verify the claim that they were both born in Georgia?  Actually, there is!  In 1880, the Federal Census contained 
several new pieces of information including the place of birth of both parents of each individual.  So, what do their FOUR children still 
alive in 1880 say about where their parents were born?

Evidence from the 1850 Pike County, Mississippi census



Mason Simmons was the FIRST child of Willis and Jane Simmons. This 1880 Caldwell Parish, Louisiana census record is nearly 
impossible to read but it was transcribed and can vaguely be read as Mason Simmons.  In 1880, Mason’s age is given as 75 and his
birthplace as Georgia.  He was born before the family moved to Mississippi.  He gave BOTH his parents’ birthplaces as Georgia. 21

William Simmons was their SECOND child. On the 1880 Pike County, Mississippi census, he gives his age as 72 and his birthplace as 
Georgia.    Like his older brother, he gave BOTH his parents’ birthplaces as Georgia. 22

Information directly from Willis and Jane’s children



Narcissa (Simmons) Fortenberry, (wife of Calvin Kennington Fortenberry) was the 4th child of Willis and Jane Simmons. She also states that 
BOTH of her parents were born in Georgia.  She was born in Mississippi in 1813. 23 Because the book was copied on a slant, please follow 
the red line for the correct data.

J. R. Simmons, 5th child of Willis and Jane, states that he himself was born in Mississippi (ditto marks) and BOTH parents were born in 
Georgia. 24 Once again, please follow the red line for correct data.  

Confirmed by four of their children, this adds a solid foundation to the fact that both Willis Simmons and Jane Goslin were BORN in Georgia.   
The apparent conclusion from this data is that NONE of the three John Goslins living in North Carolina at the time of the 1790 census could 
possibly be Jane’s family.

The obvious answer from their own children is that we should look for Jane’s family in GEORGIA.



Before moving forward, the Georgia land grant system needs to be discussed.  
Immediately after the Revolutionary War, the state of Georgia was desperate for 
people to settle in their western areas (now middle and west Georgia).  Of course, 
the plan was to push the Native Americans off the land and further west.  In 1783, 
the state began issuing headright and bounty land grants.  Headright grants were to 
be given to families who remained in Georgia during the final years of the war 
(1781 to 1782).  The bounty land grants were initially to be issued to men who 
served in the war, regardless of location, as long as the person had proof from an 
officer that they had served. Immediately, the system was abused and the various 
laws were ignored.  One of the worst offenders was Georgia’s famous 
Revolutionary War general - Elijah Clarke.  He and others began issuing statements 
for anyone who asked, even without evidence of service.  Early document 
transcribers of these grants who were seeking to make records available for 
researchers assumed that all these grants belonged to “proven” Revolutionary War 
veterans.  The validity of these lists was never checked.  Sadly, over the years, more 
in depth research uncovered that many were not veterans or ever living in Georgia.  
It has been proven that many men, including Clarke, became land speculators who 
obtained thousands of acres under very questionable methods. 26

Based on research done using existing documents of the area of Georgia being 
settled, two men named Goslin (Gauslin/Gosling) have been found who were 
mentioned in the records not long after the Revolutionary War.  Remember, Jane 
and her family say she was born in Georgia.  Her age given on the 1850 census 
suggests that her birth year was around 1785. 27 This is exactly when families living 
further north were moving into Georgia.

Post Revolutionary War Land Grants

All other 
shaded areas 
are Post-
Revolutionary 
War 
settlements

Pre-War grants

The land being settled between 1780 and 1790 appears in orange on 
the map shown here.  The areas along the Savannah River and the 
coast that appear in cream were settled prior to the War.  Other 
shaded areas show the progression of settlement as the Georgia 
government displaced the Natives slowly westward.  25



David Goslin
One of two Goslin men appearing in the early Georgia records was named David Goslin (Gosling/Gauslin).  Because research 
indicates that it is extremely improbable that he is directly connected to our family, he will be discussed first. On 26 May 1784, a 
plat for 287.5 acres was laid out to David Gosling in Franklin County, Georgia. 28

After the survey shown above was competed on 15 June 1784, nothing seems to have happened with this land.  One year later 
on 6 May 1785, a document was recorded in the Franklin County records showing a man named Samuel Creswell was given this 
land “in lieu of” a county warrant of David Gosling.” 31

At this time, grants for 287.5 acres were designated to 
be granted to a large category of people, mostly 
privates in the militia, Georgia citizens, or deserters 
from the British. 29 Most individuals who had some 
form of the Goslin surname and served in the war 
lived in Maryland, Pennsylvania, and New York.  No 
David Goslin (any spelling) can be found anywhere
actually fighting in the Revolutionary War. The one 
David Goslin who was located during this time period 
lived in New Jersey.  He was identified as a fugitive 
after joining the British Army in 1776.  In 1783, this 
family evacuated from New York City with other Tories 
fleeing to Canada when Washington retook the city.  
His family definitely did not move to Georgia. 30



“Georgia By a court of Justices of the County of Franklin to John Gorham Esq. 
County Surveyor for said county   You are hereby authorized and required to 
admeasure and layout or cause to be admeasured and laid out unto Samuel Creswell  
A tract of Land which shall contain two hundred eighty seven & half acres in the said 
County of Franklin in lieu of A county warrant of David Gosling . . . “  (continuing but 
not shown above)
“Taking especial care that the same has not heretofore been laid out to any person or 
persons and you are also hereby directed and required to record the platt of the same 
in your office and remit A copy there of together with this warrant to the Surveyor 
General given under my hand  session justice of said Court the 6th Day of May 1785  
Walker Richardson CFC” [Clerk of Franklin County] 32

John Gorham, the surveyor of this plat and noted on this 
grant, was one of the worst offenders of land fraud along with 
Elijah Clarke. 33 The man receiving the land (Samuel Creswell) 
received thousands of acres in his own name; and, he too is 
noted on other plats as a surveyor. Note: This legal term “in 
lieu of” appears in many grants and means “in place of.”  On 6 
May 1784, not only did Creswell receive David Gosling’s land 
but he had four other “in lieu of “ grants transferred to 
himself for an additional 1312.5 acres. 34 As there are no
other records indicating that a David Goslin ever lived in 
Georgia, it would seem that if he was ever in Georgia at all, he 
left before being taxed or otherwise documented as existing. 
The two counties in the state involved with the most land 
fraud were Franklin and Washington Counties.  David’s land 
discussed here was supposed to be in Franklin County.  

The state could see that individuals were abusing the current 
grant process but it would take until 1803 before the Georgia 
Legislature would radically change the laws to remove the 
overwhelming corruption.  What took so long to make a 
change?  Many of the worst offenders were the influential 
people holding local offices. 35

David Goslin

Although there are additional twists and turns concerning all these shady land deals, there is absolutely no compelling evidence to 
connect a man named David Goslin to our Jane Goslin. 



Simon Goslin – 1791 
Although Simon Goslin does not appear in the Georgia records as early as David 
Goslin,  there are enough documents to track some of his activities. The very 
first record for him does not even appear in the Georgia records, but is instead 
found in the records of Caswell County, North Carolina. 36 How fortunate to 
find a record that immediately provides a previous residence and a definitive 
link to service in the Revolutionary War!

State of Georgia
Washington County 

Personaly appeared before me
Simon Gauselin – and made oath that he joined as a soldier in the continental line of 
this State in the 12 m service in Capt Tilman Dixons Compy and that he obtained a 
discharge after his time expired, and after having obtand such discharge – the same 
was lost or otherways destroyed and was neither sold or Bartred by himself or any 
other person for Him by his authority

John Watt JP 37 Given under my hand
this 28th May 1791
Simon Gauslin

For value received I do herby transfer and 
afsign unto Nicholas Long Junr 38 all my right and title to the above for the services 
aforesaid

Simon Gauslin

Test
John Watts  JP

What this document is saying is that Simon was relinquishing his rights to 
payment by the state of North Carolina for his service in the Revolutionary War as 
he no longer lived there.  Instead, he was assigning any payment he would have 
received to Nicholas Long, Jr. 



The information concerning Simon Goslin’s Revolutionary War service will be explained in great detail in a subsequent article.  First, a logical 
link to Jane Goslin must be explored.  This previous record from North Carolina is the first one linking Simon to Georgia.  Washington County 
was organized in 1784 and would later be divided into seven other counties.  It would help us greatly if the 1790, 1800, and 1810 census 
records for Georgia still existed, but sadly they are designated as “missing.”  This means one has to rely on the spotty court records that 
made it through courthouse fires, the Civil War, and general negligence of historical records.

Washington 
County 1784

Hancock 
County 1793

These two maps show some of the 
changes in county formations.  In 
1784, Washington County was 
formed from Creek land and 
Franklin from Cherokee land.  In 
1786, Greene was formed from 
the northern part of Washington.  
By 1793, Greene County had been 
divided again to include the 
formation of Hancock. 39

The previous document concerning Simon Goslin was signed by John Watts, Justice of the Peace for Washington County, Georgia before 
being sent to North Carolina meaning this document traveled north from Georgia.  All subsequent records located for Simon Goslin appear in 
Hancock County, Georgia.  As discussed above, he did not necessarily move; his location just got designated as being in a newly formed 
county. Three pages previous was a map of the “acquisition” of Native American land showing, in orange, the area later to include Hancock 
County.  

The loss of records during this time period is devastating to family historians.  Tax records before 1800 are scarce and poorly preserved, early 
plats are often loose papers, and time has not been kind to these old records.  With that being said, the following is what has been 
discovered about Simon Goslin through extensive, diligent, and persistent research.

https://www.mapofus.org/_iframe/ga-maps.htm

https://www.mapofus.org/_iframe/ga-maps.htm



Simon Gauslin – Hancock County Tax Records 1794

Notice that Simon Gauslin has no data on any column except the last one.  This is an indication that he owned no land and was required 
to pay only a poll (head) tax of just over 31¼ ¢.  As with all tax collecting at the time, Capt. Sanford would have traveled along the easiest 
routes possible.  This means that Simon lived near the men enumerated around him on the list.    The man above him, William Vines 
owned sixty acres of 3rd quality land in Hancock County on Rocky Creek.  He paid a little over 38¢ (poll plus tax on land).  Below Simon is 
Turner Harwood who owned 50 acres, also on Rocky Creek, of 2nd quality land  and he paid 37¢ tax. 41 Please remember Rocky Creek. 

Capt Sanford District         | Negroes | land 1st | 2nd | 3rd Quality    |   Pine land    |     County          |  Water Cors |   Whome joining|  |   To Whome Granted                                          Dollars  Dimes Cents

As previously mentioned, 
Hancock County was 
established in 1793 from 
what was originally 
Washington County.  
That would mean that 
this record from 1794 
would be their first tax 
list as a new county.  To 
the left is the page 
containing Simon 
Gauslin. 40 Above the 
document, in very small 
type, is an attempt to 
transcribe the column 
titles.  Do means ditto.



Simon Gauslin – Hancock County Tax Records 1796

Person taxed                                    |  Counties   | Oconee Swamp |    Ogechee Swamp |  Oak and Hickory     | Pine                     Adjoining  lands of                           on the waters of       slaves whites                           Amount of each man’s tax

Two years later, Simon Gauslin is still living in Hancock County.  Like before, he was only required to pay a poll tax, but there was a tax 
increase to 37½¢. 42 By looking at the earlier pages of this tax list,  RC on this document is referring to Rocky Creek near where he lived on 
the 1794 list. The man listed below Simon is Elisha Moran who was living nearby on the 1794 tax list (see last name on previous list).  Like
Simon, he paid only a poll tax and did not own any land.  Elisha Trice, noted at the top of this list, also owned no land. 43 These three 
families (Goslin, Trice, and Moran) intermarried several times during this period. Yes, there is an Isaac Simmons on this list but his 
relationship to Willis’s family has not been verified.  These are the only two surviving tax lists for Hancock County before 1800.



Simon Goslin purchases land - 1799

The first record indicating that Simon Goslin owned land was a 
deed dated 2 January 1799.  The top portion of that deed is 
seen here.  It states that “This Indenture made this Second day 
of January one Thousand Seven hundred and ninety nine 
between Isaac Daniel of the county of Mongumery
[Montgomery] & State of Georgia of the one part & Simon 
Goslin of the county of hancock and state aforesd of the other 
part Witnesseth that for the consideration of the sum of one 
hundred dollars to him the said Daniel in hand paid by the said 
Goslin the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged ….” 44

Information from the remaining part of the deed included:  Goslin paid $100 for 50 acres of land in Hancock County. His new land adjoined 
“on Simmons old line.” 45 This is most likely Isaac Simmons listed six names above Goslin on the 1796 tax list.  It is not likely that this 
Simmons is from our direct Simmons line, but he is probably related.  There were quite a few Simmons men known to have lived in Hancock 
County.  To learn more about the research of Simmons families living in early Georgia, follow the link in the endnotes. 46

The land was identified as being on “Roka Creek.”  This is believed to be in error since no 
creek in Georgia (then or now) has had that name.  Instead, it should be Rocky Creek.  As 
shown on the previous two tax records, Simon was living near Rocky Creek when he was 
paying his taxes.  A John Booth, Sr., shown here as witnessing the deed, lived near Goslin on 
the 1796 tax list. (see previous page).

As previously mentioned, Goslin’s two tax records were poll taxes which is a tax on an adult male without property.  Because Goslin’s poll 
taxes were for Hancock County and this land purchased in 1799 was also in Hancock County, one might even make a reasonable 
assumption that he may have been buying the land he had already been farming, especially since the seller lived in a different county.



Goslins and the Georgia Land Lotteries

After the Revolutionary War, the Georgia government began an intensive effort to 
remove the Creeks and Cherokees from their native lands.  By 1803, a law was passed 
for a lottery system to distribute the acquired land more equitably than the original 
grant system.  The map on the left notes the progression of this process. 47 In the first 
(1805) lottery, citizens could register for a chance to win land they could take 
possession of for as little as 4 to 6 cents an acre.  The names were placed in a large 
spinning drum and the land locations in another.  When a name was drawn, so was a 
corresponding plot of land (or a blank paper). The 1805 lottery allowed men to have 
one draw (entry), widows were given two. People whose names were drawn with a 
plot of land were called fortunate draws.  The lotteries relevant to the Goslin family 
are the ones held in 1805, 1807, and 1820.  These were the first three drawings. Each 
time a land lottery occurred, the rules varied slightly. 48

http://georgiainfo.galileo.usg.edu/gastudiesimages/Land%20Lottery.htm

Notice on the map that in 1805 two 
comparatively small areas were 
being distributed.  One was near the 
coast and the other in what today is 
central Georgia.  Also, note the 
arrow showing where Hancock 
County was relative to the land 
being distributed.  Simon’s family 
literally lived on the edge of the new 
land.  Why not try to win some?  
Most people did!

Hancock 
County

Land Lottery map



The lottery was authorized by the government of Georgia in May of 1803.  People who 
wished to be in the drawing had to register at their county courthouse by September of 
1803 but that date was later extended to 1 March 1804.  Women were only allowed to be in 
the drawing if they were widows.  As widows, they would get 2 draws (chances of winning). 
This means that Mary and Omey, both with the number 2 following their names, were 
widows.  No other information was given except what you see here. 50 No male named 
Goslin was registered anywhere on the 1805 lists within the state.  The most logical 
explanation for this is that Simon Goslin, had died before 1 March 1804.  Since these two 
widows are listed in Hancock County where Simon purchased land in 1799, then it would be 
reasonable to assume that one of them was Simon’s wife.   Neither Mary nor Omey Goslin
had a fortunate draw. 51

Before moving on, we need to take a look at someone else who registered and is listed  on 
the same page but 14 names down from Omey.  John Bond Senr is noted as having two 
draws as a Hancock County participant. 52 He was a well known Revolutionary War veteran 
and he did get a fortunate draw. 53 By 1808, he was living in Jones County, Georgia.  This is 
the same county where Willis and Jane were living before 1809.  This is noteworthy because 
John Bond and his family would be part of the traveling party to Mississippi with Willis and 
Jane when they left Georgia in 1809.   Like Willis and Jane, Bond would spend the rest of his 
life in Pike County, Mississippi.   The third man in their group traveling to Mississippi was 
John Mathews.  There were also two men named John Mathews on the Hancock County list 
but it was not possible to prove if one of them was the John Mathews in their group.  

Goslins in the 1805 Georgia Land Lottery

Hancock County registrants for the 1805 drawing

John Bond, Senior

There were two Goslins living in Hancock County who entered the drawing for the land that would later be organized as Baldwin, 
Wilkinson, and Wayne Counties.  Both were women – Mary Goslin and Omey Goslin. 49



Hancock 
County

Goslins in the 1807 Georgia Land Lottery

The rules for the 1807 lottery were slightly different than those in 1805.  The act was 
passed 26 June 1806 and registration was only open from 26 June to 26 September.  
Widows received one draw (instead of two).  A family of orphans under 21 whose 
father was dead and mother living would get one (total two for the family). 55

There is an interesting story about the Hancock County records concerning this 
particular lottery.  The Superior Court of Hancock County had a book in the 
courthouse entitled Tax Digest 1806 Hancock County.  Inside was not a tax list, but 
the names of all the people who registered for the 1807 lottery.  The contents of this 
book were published twice but both contained many errors and abbreviated lists.  In 
2002, Nathan Mathews provided an accurate transcription of these records for the 
Georgia Genealogical Society Quarterly.  His intent was that the transcribed list be as 
accurate as possible.  He notes that “One of the advantages of reviewing the 
registration list, versus having the fortunate drawers, is that often a widow is listed 
adjacent to the ‘Orphans of’ immediately following with the same surname.” 56 Mary 
Goslin was not listed this time, but we are indeed fortunate because the following 
was listed together:

Orphans of Simon Gosling    1
Omy Gosling 1  57

We now know without a doubt that Omy Goslin was the widow of Simon Goslin.

Why was the original document from Hancock County not shown here?  Sadly, in 2014, the Hancock County Courthouse burned and we 
lost all these original records.  The Georgia Archives knew these records were still in Sparta, Georgia and needed to be protected but 
digitizing the original documents was never done.  Thankfully, researchers have this publication by Mathews as it is the only remaining 
complete and accurate source.  Once again, the Goslin family did not have a fortunate draw.

Land Lottery map58



Simon Goslin appeared on the 
1794 and 1796 tax list in 
Hancock County.  Then in 1799 
he purchased land on Rocky 
Creek. 62

William Simmons had a fortunate 
draw in the 1807 Land Lottery.  The 
land was in Baldwin County.  He, 
along with his sons, Willis and 
Solomon appeared on the Baldwin 
1807 tax list. 60

Comparative locations of the Goslin and Simmons Families

Jones County was formed in 
December of 1807 FROM part of 
Baldwin County.
Jones County is where Willis and 
Jane spend the first years of their 
marriage.  His father, William died 
prior to August of 1814 and his 
estate was probated in Jones 
County. 61

Although one might not completely accept Simon Goslin as the father of Jane Goslin at this point, we will proceed in that direction.   As 
their history unfolds, it will become quite obvious that this is the correct ancestry for Jane.  Just the fact that both were in Georgia 
would improve the likelihood of Willis meeting Jane than if she was born and living in North or South Carolina and Willis was in
Georgia.   What might be a reasonable scenario of Willis and Jane meeting and marrying in Georgia?

Several members of the Goslin
family live and marry in Baldwin 
County in the early 1800s. 63

1823 map of Georgia and Alabama by H. S. Tanner  59



There are several counties in the area with existing marriage records, but none have a marriage record for Willis and Jane.  Only a small 
percent of marriages in the first few decades after the Revolutionary War were ever recorded in Georgia.   Many were preformed at small 
churches or by itinerate preachers and, consequently, never documented.  What about Willis and Jane?  Some “thinking outside the box” 
was necessary (and fun).  Often, the best place to cultivate a friendship which might lead to courtship and marriage would be through 
neighbors, nearby churches, and family friends.   A suggestion on our part involves events surrounding the early 19th century non-
denominational camp meetings conducted as evangelical revivals.  These were multi-day religious events attended by thousands of 
people from many miles around.  People slept in tents and wagons.  Several preachers would take turns preaching. 64

While researching these camp meetings, an interesting fact about Lorenzo Dow was discovered.  We 
were amazed to find that he had a “Pulpit Stone” marked for him not very far from where the 
Simmons and Goslin families were living.  This stone served as a raised pulpit from which ministers 
delivered their fiery sermons while in the area. 67 In any case, this makes for a good story, doesn’t it?  
Also of note is that Willis Simmons was known to be an extremely religious and devout man.   Once 
in Mississippi, he and Jane were founding members of Silver Creek Baptist Church established in 
1814 in Pike County. 68 When one reads the minutes of the church transcribed by Bevin J. Creel, the 
only person appearing in their early minutes more than Willis was their minister, Rev. Jesse Crawford. 
69 Evangelical camp meetings would have been of great interest to Willis and Jane!

Marriage of Willis Simmons and Jane Goslin

Photos by 
Teresa 
Fortenberry

The first recorded camp meeting known to have been held in Georgia was in 1803 at Shoulderbone
Creek in Hancock County (map on next page). 65 Information about this camp meeting was recorded 
by one of the most colorful ministers there, the Reverand Lorenzo Dow.  In his journal, he described 
some of his travels around Georgia in 1803 and 1805.  In addition to converting members of the 
congregation, many marriages occurred at these events. The birth of Mason Simmons, Willis and 
Jane’s oldest child, has always been used as an estimate for when they married.  Mason was born 5 
May 1805 in Jones County, Georgia. 66 This certainly fits in the time period of these great revivals 
being conducted near them.  



Goslin family 
living near 
Rocky Creek 
by 1794.

1803 – first 
recorded camp 
meeting in 
Georgia on 
Shoulderbone
Creek –
Hancock Co. 

Willis and Jane 
were living on 
Shoal Creek in 
Jones County at the 
time they moved to 
Mississippi in 1809.

Several Simmons and Goslin
families connected to Willis and 
Jane were in Baldwin in the early 
1800s.

Relevant locations about the time Willis and Jane would have met and married

In 1805, Baldwin 
County was formed 
from the Creek lands. 
(Bal)  Notice that the 
original shape of the 
county remains the 
same once it is 
divided. 70

In 1807, Baldwin was 
divided into five 
counties to include 
Baldwin, Morgan, 
Putnam, Jones and 
Randolph (later 
renamed Jasper).  
When divided, 
William Simmons’s 
land draw in Baldwin 
later fell in Putnam. 71 Next, a hunt began for possible siblings for Jane.   

Soon, many interesting possibilities arose.

Changes in county 
lines 1805 - 1807

1823 map of Georgia and Alabama by H. S. Tanner 72

Willis’s father, William 
died while living in Putnam 
County but his will was 
probated in Jones County.



Many researchers and family members of the Willis Simmons family are aware that Willis and Jane’s first son was named Mason 
Simmons.  He was born 5 March 1805 before Willis and Jane moved to Mississippi in 1809.  Where did the name Mason come from? It is 
not a common given name and never used in the William Simmons family before 1800.  Interestingly, in researching Georgia and Federal 
military records, a  young man named Mason Goslin (not Simmons) was located.   Below is a copy of the first page of the information 
about his Army enlistment.  This single source comes from a compilation of various records located at the National Archives. 73  

2339         Goslin Mason                 Pri 2 US Infy 5    10   bro.    dk      fair    18    Farmer    Orange Co.      N.C.   Dec 2/03       

Discovery of an obvious candidate for inclusion in Jane’s family

Mason Goslin was noted as a Private in the 2nd U.S. Infantry.  He was described as 5’10”, 18 years old, and having brown eyes, dark hair, 
and a fair complexion.   He stated that he was a farmer who was born in Orange County, North Carolina.  He enlisted on 2 December 1803 
(more about his enlistment was given on the next page of the document).  This would make his year of birth some time in 1785. His 
1803 enlistment was between the Revolutionary War and the War of 1812.  There was only one major purpose of a military presence in 
Georgia during this time – interfacing with the Native Americans.  Remember, during this time, Georgia was forcing the local tribes off 
their ancestral lands as quickly as possible to make way for “white settlers.”  There were continual disagreements and skirmishes 
between the two ethnic groups as each fought for control of the land. 74



Additional military information about Mason Goslin

First, look at the information outlined in red box above.  The “remarks” section will take 
a bit more explanation.  Mason Goslin was enlisted at Fort Wilkinson, Georgia by Lt. 
Miller for a term to last until 1 December 1808. 75 Since he enlisted 2 December 1803, 
that would be exactly five years. 

Notice on the map that Fort Wilkinson was located near Milledgeville at the 
o symbol indicated by the red arrow. 76 The squiggly line beside the fort represents the 
Oconee River. (This map actually has the fort on the wrong side of the river as 
additional research has shown that it was on the west side in Baldwin County.)  What 
this map does show is that the fort literally sits between all the locations where records 
for the Goslin and Simmons families have been found – Hancock, Baldwin, Putnam, and 
Jones.  This location for his enlistment would add weight to the likelihood that Mason 
Goslin would be the son of Simon Goslin of Hancock County.

Now, let us look at the remarks noted concerning his early military service.



Capt.  W. R. Boote’s Co. Book   1805 & 10,     On     com’d at    Ft   Stoddart,       Jany 1/05    – Transf’d to
Capt. Sparks’ Co.   Mar. 24/05  – Present  in      Capt. Schuyler’s Co.     June   9 & 10  1805. 77

As noted below, Capt. W[illiam] R. Boote was the Captain at Fort Wilkinson in 1805. 78 He listed Mason Goslin in his Company Book 
indicating that Goslin’s military life began at Fort Wilkinson.  This is logical as it was a fort close to where his family most likely lived.  
Because Boote’s company record did not start until 1805 and Mason joined in December of 1803, Mason may have served his first 13 
months there.   No known records for men stationed there during the first part of Mason’s enlistment have been located.

By 1 January 1805, Mason was present at Fort Stoddart (Stoddard, Stoddert).  This fort was built in 1799 on a bluff on the Mobile River 30 
miles north of what is now Mobile, Alabama and was commanded by Capt. Peter Schuyler.  At the time of its construction, Alabama was part 
of the Mississippi Territory. 79 The record above indicates that by 24 March 1805 Goslin was moved to Capt. [Richard] Sparks’ Company 
stationed at Fort Adams for a period of 2 ½ months.  This fort was built on the international border (31st parallel) between U.S. and Spanish 
Territory on the east bank of the Mississippi River specifically to protect and defend our territory. 80 By 9 June 1805, he was back with 
Captain Schuyler at Fort Stoddart.  Although he had three more years to serve, this was his last record.  There are no discharge records.

In 1881, a book was compiled of the history of the Department of War by Thomas H. S. 
Hamersly.  The images on the left are from that publication and contain a list of officers
for the 2nd U.S. Infantry as of 1 January 1805.  Sadly, none of the original sources used 
in compiling this document were noted. 81 As you can see, the officers match those 
mentioned above.  Captain Peter Schuyler spent his military career a long way from 
home.  He was born in Albany, New York in 1776 of Dutch ancestry.  He was stationed 
at Fort Stoddart for many years and settled in Mississippi.  He was also appointed as 
the Treasurer of Mississippi.  His grave is in Natchez, Mississippi. 82



In 1805, a treaty was signed between the United States and the Creek Nation.  That treaty, usually referred to as the First Treaty of 
Washington, was to give the Federal government permission to develop a horse path through the Creek land for access to the areas along 
the Gulf of Mexico.  The purpose behind the project was to provide a route for faster communication between Washington, D.C. and New 
Orleans, Louisiana.  This route would follow the old Native American trails from Fort Wilkinson on the Oconee River in Baldwin County, 
Georgia to Fort Stoddart on the Mobile River. 83 It began as a horse path but over time, became a well traveled road used by settlers to 
access the Louisiana and Mississippi Territories.

When one considers where Mason Goslin’s military 
service placed him, it becomes obvious that he was very 
likely involved with this road’s development.  He enlisted 
in 1803 at Fort Wilkinson and by 1805 was stationed at 
Fort Stoddart.  What is amazing is that this is very likely 
the exact route Willis and Jane Simmons used in 1809 to 
get to the Mississippi Territory.  Their move occurred only 
one year after Mason’s enlistment would have ended.  
One has to wonder what they thought as they traveled 
the same path.   

This is also the route that William Jasper Fortenberry (3X
great grandfather) and his family used when they left 
Lancaster County, South Carolina in 1819. 84 By then, their 
destination had become a state – Mississippi.  Once in 
Mississippi, these two families lived near each other in 
Pike County.  My family is a result of each of these 
families (and others) choosing to travel hundreds of miles 
down a primitive road to begin a new life.

Fort Stoddart

Fort Wilkinson

Map of the Lower Creek Trading Path and Old Federal Road  85

Mason Goslin’s duties while in the Army



James Wilkinson was the Commanding General of the entire U.S. Army from 1786 until 
1808.  He was a prolific correspondent and many of his papers still exist.  His whereabouts 
can be tracked through his correspondences as he not only gave the date of the order but 
also his location. 86 On 9 June 1805, Wilkinson was commanding the 2nd U.S. Infantry from 
Fort Massac. 87 This fort was located in the southern part of Illinois on the Ohio River not far 
from Paducah, Kentucky. 88 He was a long way from the southern forts, but in his orders 
that day, he mentioned Mason Goslin.  Of course, the entire document on the left is too 
small to read, so the important part is enlarged below.  

“And Reese Matthews   and  Mason    Goslin late    of   Bootes Company,   are 
to   be  continued  on  the   Rolls   of   Schuyler.”

The Military journal of General Wilkinson

U.S., General James Wilkinson’s Order Book, 1796-1808

One last record for Mason Goslin

Since Reese Matthews appeared in the same sentence as Mason Goslin, a little research 
on him was done.  It was surprising to learn that not only was his enlistment information 
the same as Mason’s but so were the details of his service. 89 They obviously joined 
together.   

Reese’s father, Jeremiah, mentioned Reese in his will written in 1808 which was later proved in the Baldwin County court in 1814. 90 This 
would mean that Reese most likely made it through the five years of service.  Sadly, there is no indication that Mason did.  Other than these 
records, no documents have been located for someone named Mason Goslin.  It is very likely that he died while in service.



James Goslin and Polly (Mary) Trice were married February 18, 1821. 93

The Trice family was mentioned previously.  On the 1820 Baldwin 
County census, James T. Goslin was living alone.  He gave his age 
category as 16 to 25.  This would mean that like his brother, Barnett, 
he was born between 1795 and 1804. 94

The following contains only a sketch of these individuals.  As the scope of this research is already rather broad, an in-depth investigation 
on these families was not possible at this time; so, members of these additional Goslin lines will need to continue the research.  We used 
these marriage records along with census records to come up with our best estimate as to year of birth.  Even then, they could still be off 
by several years.

Simon Goslin and Mary G. Bivins were married January 19, 1826 in Baldwin County, 
Georgia. 95 In 1850, Simon Goslin was living in Russell County, Alabama, listed as 55 
years old and born in Georgia.  That would make his year of birth about 1795. Living 
in his household is a dependent named Oma Goslin, age 25 years old. 96 The logical 
implications of this would be that the Simon born in Georgia about 1800 named a 
daughter after his mother, Omey/Oma.  And obviously, Simon was named after his 
father, Simon.

Three Baldwin County marriage records for additional siblings for Jane Goslin

Barnet Goslin and Martha Sims married December 16, 1819 (on left). 91 On the 1820 
Baldwin census his household consisted of 2 males ages 16-25, giving an estimated 
year of birth 1795-1804. 92 (Other male is likely his brother, Simon) From various 
records, both Barnett and his wife were quite young when they married. Best guess 
of his birth - about 1800.

Photos taken by Teresa Fortenberry, Baldwin County courthouse, Milledgeville, Georgia.

Photos taken by Teresa Fortenberry, Baldwin County courthouse, Milledgeville, Georgia.



William Moran and wife, Temperance (Goslin) are noted on several census records.  
Above is the listing for the 1860 Baldwin County, Georgia census.  As can be seen, 
Temperance gives her age as 60 which would place her year of birth at about 1800.  
In the above record, the “Birthplace” ditto marks indicate Georgia. 97

Although there is no marriage record for them, according to the Moran genealogy, 
William Moran and Temperance Goslin were married in 1807 or 1808.  They list 
William as the child of Elisha Moran, Revolutionary War veteran. The Moran 
genealogy states that the couple had no known children. 98 On the 1860 census 
shown above, they are living alone, William is 70 and Temperance is 60.  In 185,0 
their ages are noted as 60 and 50 years old respectively.  Based on a located 
obituary which can be found on Find a Grave, Temperance was 63 when she died in 
1862.  She was buried at the Moran Family Cemetery (also known as the William 
Moran Cemetery) in Baldwin County, Georgia. 99 Based on the fairly consistent ages 
for her on census records, it would appear that the estimated year of her marriage is 
incorrect as she would have been only 8 or 9 years old.  The reasonable estimate of 
her year of birth would be 1799 as her death occurred in mid April of 1862.

Temperance Goslin Moran

Hancock County Tax Records 1796

Above is a previously discussed 1796 tax record for 
Hancock County. 100 Notice the last two names.  
These two names together should leave absolutely 
no doubt as to the connection between Temperance 
and William.  Their families were neighbors!  Simon 
Gauslin is noted just above Elisha Moran. Notice the 
top name on this list is Trice.  Temperance’s brother 
James married Mary (Polly) Trice. There are also 
records of Morans and Trices marrying.  Obviously, 
these three families were close friends.



Since no will exists for Simon or Omy Goslin, the following is an attempt to deduce the structure of their family.  All birth years are very 
tentative even Mason’s. Although he gave his year of birth as 1785, he very well could have been under 18 at the time of joining the Army 
but gave that year of birth to make his enlistment acceptable.  Men throughout history have done exactly that.

Simon Goslin - Died before March, 1804 in Hancock County, Georgia. 101 More about Simon’s life will appear in a subsequent article.

Omy (last name unknown)  Death unknown.

Jane Goslin - Born about 1785/86 GA. Died 6 May 1851 Pike County MS. 103

Mason Goslin - Born 1785 Orange County, NC. Likely died after June, 1805 during final years of his military service. 102

James Goslin - Born about 1793 GA. In 1830 was living in Upson County.  Nothing about his death has been discovered. 104

Barnett Goslin - Born about 1801  GA. 106 Died Taylor Co. in 1861.  Published notice in newspaper concerning his estate. 107

Simon Goslin - Born about 1803 GA.  Moved several times and died in 1856 in Russell County, Alabama. 108

Temperance Goslin - Born about 1799 GA. Died 18 April 1862 Baldwin County, GA.  Married William Moran. 105

Best estimate of the configuration of Simon Goslin’s family

As any researcher knows, without a birth record, it is hard to ascertain exactly when someone was born.   It becomes a lot of guess work and 
logical thinking.   Looking at the time span between some of these births, it is quite possible that Simon had a wife before Omy or they may 
have had some babies who did not make it to adulthood.  Also, Jane’s year of birth shown here may be a little different than the “accepted” 
year of birth which was based completely on the 1850 census.  It does appear likely that the family moved between the births of Mason and 
Jane.  This is exactly the time period when the people of the Carolinas were flooding Georgia for the free headright and bounty land. 109

Family moved from North Carolina to Georgia between these two births.



Problem raised by Mason Goslin stating he was born in Orange County

As mentioned on page 16, Simon Goslin served during the Revolutionary War from Caswell County, North Carolina.  His son, Mason, stated 
that he was born in Orange County, North Carolina.  This is not necessarily a contradiction.  Orange County was originally a huge county.  As 
populations increased, it always became imperative that counties be divided so that business at the county courthouse did not take a 
massive amount of travel time to get there (deeds, marriages, taxes, lawsuits, probate, to name a few) .  As soon as it was feasible, a state 
would divide a large county and establish a new, centrally located town as the new county seat.  By 1780, the original Orange County had 
been divided into an additional four more counties with the creation of Gilford, Chatham, Caswell, and Randolph. 110

Sadly, Simon Goslin does not appear on any 
records in either Orange County or Caswell 
County.   Orange has marriage, land, and 
probate records from the mid 1750s.  Caswell 
County (formed in 1777 from Orange) has 
similar records.  No Goslins are found in either.   

This leads one to believe that Simon did not own land but rented from someone.  Sadly, both counties have only a few tax lists, but again, 
no Goslins. All Simon’s records from the Revolutionary War are noted as being connected to service from Caswell County. 111 We know 
from the document on slide 19 that Simon was in the ”12 month service.”  These enlistments were a result of a law passed by the General 
Assembly of North Carolina in early 1781 enacting a draft.  By this law, men drafted could pay a substitute to go in their place. 112 The 
pension records of men in Simon’s company indicate that many of them were substitutes (including Goslin). 113 A soldier did not have to 
be from the same county to serve as someone’s substitute.  It is beginning to appear that Simon may have lived in Orange County but was 
hired as a substitute for someone in Caswell County.  There is still quite a bit of research to do but here is an example of one tantalizing 
fact to support Mason’s statement of being born in Orange County.   The Goslin and Trice families were connected in Georgia.  Between 
1782 and 1797 there were 10 Orange County marriage records for members of the Trice family. 114  The Elisha Trice on the 1794 tax list with 
Simon Goslin was born in Orange County and died in Jones County, Georgia. 115



Until 
next 
time - -



Following Random Clues
By Adrianne Criminger

As any family historian knows, we often slip down the rabbit hole when we allow our research to 
become too open-ended.  That has happened frequently with this Goslin article.  While examining 
people mentioned in various documents, facts were uncovered that made me look beyond the 
obvious link.  It is a known fact that families did not live in isolation, especially before the 20th

century.  Even when homes were far apart, people formed communities.   Although these bonds 
would develop in new places, pioneer families and friends often moved to their new locations as a 
unified group.  I have found that this is more often the case than one would think.  

After some serious thought, I have concluded that I cannot write the following information as a 
cohesive narrative since the connections are like a spider web.  Also, the information will not appear 
in any specific order and it may be a bit confusing.  It was for me!  What all these seemingly random 
facts has led me know is that Jane Goslin was, without a doubt, the daughter of Simon Goslin.  

One of the most interesting things I came across was how often surnames were used as given names.  It seems that for whatever
reason, many of the families connected to us in middle Georgia did this.  As you read the following, you will notice that I am going to go 
against my own obsession with documenting sources of information.  I will NOT give any references for this section as it would add too 
many endnotes.  Just trust me this time – all this information can be found in family genealogies and documents.  Anyone seeking
information about these people can find them as easily as I did. 



In 1809, Willis and Jane (Goslin) Simmons had to request a passport from the state of Georgia to travel through the Creek Indian land to 
the Mississippi Territory.  These passports were required in order to know exactly who had permission to be there.  As mentioned 
previously, the Federal Road was allowed by the 1805 First Treaty of Washington. Before the treaty, there were “bad” people of every 
culture taking advantage of any unprotected travelers.  This made it an incredibly dangerous place.  Below is the document written for 
Willis, John Bond, and John Mathews to travel through the territory.  Several of these men (noted with a * ) will be discussed below.

Georgia       We the undersiners recommend John Matthews  Willis 

Jones County        Simmons  & John Bond as good honest upright citizens 
and that they wish to obtain a passport from this County and State to the 
Mississippi Territory as they are About to remove there to  _______ October the 
6th 1809

Cuthbirth Reese *
Green Mullins * Hilton Amos
Sion Thrower * John Hogg
Harrison Cabinefs (Capt) * Hardy Bullock
denton daniel * Elijah Bailey
fredrick daniel * Wilkins Jackson  J.P.
Drury Reese J.P. * George Cabinifs *
H. Carson I.I.Q. Stephen Kirk *
Nathan Peeples Amel Huggins
Wm Ratcliff  Capt Ephraim Cox
Richard Ratcliff  Capt Moses Cox

Asa Cox



1. The young man who joined the Army with Mason Goslin in 1803 was named Reese Mathews.  (See pages 30 to 32.)  When Willis 
and his family traveled to Mississippi in 1809, two other men traveled with him – John Mathews and John Bond.  Sadly, with the 
common given name of John, I have not been able to clearly identify John Mathews as having arrived in Mississippi with John 
Bond, Sr. and Willis Simmons.  He may have dropped off along the way in the part of the Mississippi Territory that would later 
become Alabama or he may have been their guide and returned to Georgia.  In any case, I do feel the surname of Mason Goslin’s
Army buddy is significant.  This site has information about Reese Mathews. https://southernmatthews.com/1700s-
1850s_desc_jamesjr.html

2. How did Reese Mathews get his surname?  Imagine my surprise when confirming the spelling of John Mathews’s name on Willis’s 
passport request to Mississippi - two men with the surname of Reese signed as character witnesses for Willis Simmons.  They 
were Drury Reese and Cuthbert[h] Reese.  Cuthberth Reese was the postmaster for Hillsborough, Georgia (Jasper County) in the 
early 1800s.  Both Jasper and Jones Counties were formed on the same day (10 December 1807) from Baldwin County.  Drury 
Reese was the Justice of the Peace in Jones County.  Drury attested to a land grant in 1784 for a man named William Simmons. 
Aunt Edna indicated that this was Willis’s father.  Some sort of connection must have existed between the Mathews and Reese 
families.

3. Cuthbert[h] was the son of Ishman Reese who died in Jones County, Georgia between October of 1815 and July, 1816 as indicated 
by the dates of his will and probate.  Drury Reese was not named an heir of Ishman, so he was most likely a cousin.

4. I found it strange that documents not only show there was an Ishman Reese but also an Ishman Mathews.  With the Reese and 
Mathews connected in other ways, one has to wonder about both families with men having a given name of Ishman.  I was not 
able to find the connection with a family named Ishman.  



5. Recall from page 23 that Simon Goslin purchased land in 1799 from Isaac Daniel.  There were two Daniel men who signed as 
character witnesses for Willis Simmons.  They were Denton Daniel and Fredrick Daniel.  Denton Daniel and Isaac Daniel were 
both sons of Fredrick Daniel.  This means that Simon Goslin and Willis Simmons both have direct links to the Daniel family. 

6. There are several other ties between people who were character witnesses for Willis.  There are two Cabiness men, George 
and Harrison Cabiness.  George Cabiness married Palatia Harrison and they named a son Harrison Cabiness.  Harrison and his 
father, George were character witnesses.

7. Harrison Cabiness, mentioned above, was married to Sarah Kirk, the daughter of Stephen Kirk, also a character witness.

8. Drury Reese, Nathan Peeples, Sion Thrower, and Green Mullins all traveled the Federal Road and took up land in Alabama.  
(Green Mullins was named after his mother’s family, the Greens!)

9. As we know, Willis and Jane named their first son Mason Simmons.   This was obviously in honor of Jane’s brother, Mason 
Goslin.   Mason is also a surname.  My research is beginning to indicate that the Mason family was in the same area of North 
Carolina as the Goslins.  As the research for part two of the Goslin family continues, there will most likely be the same 
magnitude of overlap with North Carolina families as we see in the Georgia records.
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